

IBM Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS Version 3.7.00

Release Notes



This edition applies to the 3.7.00 Version of IBM Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS and to all subsequent releases and modifications until otherwise indicated in new editions.

Before using this information and the product it supports, read the information in "Notices" on page 13.

Licensed Materials - Property of IBM IBM Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS © Copyright IBM Corp. 1999, 2011. All Rights Reserved.
US Government Users Restricted Rights - Use, duplication or disclosure restricted by GSA ADP Schedule Contract with IBM Corp.

Contents

Product Requirements	5
Features and Enhancements	6
Special Considerations	6
Installation Notes	7
Upgrading to Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS Version 3.7	9
Maintenance Updates	9
Known Restrictions	13
Documentation Updates	13
Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS Documentation	13
Trademarks	15



IBM Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS Version 3.7.00 Release Notes

The *IBM Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS Version 3.7.00 Release Notes* document supplements IBM[®] Sterling Connect:Direct[®] for i5/OS[®] version 3.7 and IBM Sterling Sterling Connect:Direct Secure Plus version 3.7 documentation. Release notes are updated with each release of the product and contain last-minute changes, as well as other information pertinent to installing and implementing Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS. Read the document in its entirety before installation.

The Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS package consists of the distribution media, a product key, and product publications.

Product Requirements

Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS requires the following hardware and software:

Component	Software and Hardware
Sterling Connect: Direct for i5/OS	OS/400 version 6, release 1 or later (V6R1)
	IBM Application System/400 (AS/400)
	Hardware that runs V6R1 or later such as IBM i for Power Systems including AS/400, iSeries, and System i
	CUM PTF package as provided by IBM with the operating system
	Disk storage required is 100 MB. However, the actual size depends on the size of a statistics file and others.
	The minimum memory requirement is 32 MB. However, main storage depends upon the number of users and sessions.
	Note: To verify the storage available on your system, use the WRKSYSSTS command. Check the amount of total system storage and the percentage of storage used. If the total amount needed for Sterling Connect:Direct is more than the amount of storage available on your system, you must free some system storage before proceeding.

Component	Software and Hardware
Sterling Connect:Direct Secure Plus for i5/OS	 Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS version 3.6 or later All the software required for Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS version 3.6
Sterling Connect:Direct Secure Plus SSL and TLS protocols	 Cryptographic Access Provider licensed program (5722-AC3) IBM HTTP Server for iSeries (5722-DG1) Base operating system option 34 - Digital Certificate Manager (DCM) Base operating system option 35 - Cryptographic Service Provider

Features and Enhancements

Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS version 3.7 has the following features and enhancements.

Version	Feature or Enhancement
Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS version 3.6	Supports IBM Sterling Secure Proxy, which enhances security when transferring data between trading partners.
	Provides support for specifying a network interface from the server to an adjacent node. Provides convenience by enabling you to define an NIC for output traffic in the netmap.
	Supports OS versions V6R1 and later.
	Supports IPv6 internet protocol, enabling you to: • Specify a much larger address range than IPv4 in configurable fields. • Listen for incoming client and server connections on either an IPv4 or IPv6 address.
Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS version 3.7	Provides for more secure encryption of data through new ciphers added to the Sterling Connect:Direct Secure Plus cipher suites list. Obsolete ciphers suites are removed from the list.
	Added iASP support that coincides with IBM's integrated solutions addressing high-availability and disaster recovery needs. For more information about the requirements and implementation steps, see PowerHA System Mirror for IBM i Cookbook.

Special Considerations

Following are the special considerations for Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS and Sterling Connect:Direct Secure Plus for i5/OS applications:

To establish an SSL connection between Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS and Sterling Secure Proxy, use Sterling Secure Proxy Version 2.0 with Patch 5. TLS and non-secure connections between Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS and SSP are supported without the SSP patch.

For compatibility with Sterling Connect:Direct Server Adapter, use IBM® Sterling Gentran Integration Suite (GIS) Version 4.3.00 with Patch 4305 or later.

Installation Notes

When you purchase Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS, Sterling Connect:Direct Secure Plus for i5/OS is installed. Before you install Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS, read all the information in this section and follow the guidelines.

The Sterling Connect:Direct administrator who installs Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS must also start the product.

If this is a new installation, review *IBM Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS Installation and Administration Guide* for pre-installation tasks.

Complete any worksheets before installing Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS.

Review your security configuration to ensure compatibility with Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS and Sterling Connect:Direct Secure Plus for i5/OS.

Verify that you have the current updates.

Moving your Connect: Direct System to an iASP

You should run this process if your current Connect:Direct system resides in *SYSBAS and you want to move it to an iASP. This process updates your Connect:Direct system and places the necessary objects in a new library that resides in *SYSBAS (job descriptions, subsystem description, and message file). The remaining objects are moved to the iASP.

Note: Before you run this process, you should have your iASP preconfigured and available. You should also download and apply the most current fix pack. At a minimum, you must be at one of these point releases:

- ◆ Connect:Direct 3.7.00 PTF1604A
- ◆ Connect:Direct 3.8.00 PTF1604A
- 1. Sign on as CDADMIN. All Connect:Direct users must be signed off.
- 2. Bring down your Connect:Direct system.
- 3. Key in SETCDIASP and press the F4 key. The following window is displayed:

Complete each of the parameters and press the Enter key. If you are unsure of a response, press the F1 Function key on the parameter and the help text displays a full definition of the parameter.

4. Once completed, you should sign off and back on. At this point, you are ready to test your system. The Connect:Direct direct objects have been moved to the iASP, except for a few objects. The Connect:Direct subsystem, the job descriptions (CDJOBD, CDDEVACT, and

SBSD_name) and the CDMSGF Message file now reside in the library that you specified for the Connect:Direct System non-iASP Library.

- 5. You need to modify any other job descriptions that are used with your Connect:Direct system to add the Connect:Direct System non-iASP library to the initial library list. The initial iASP device must be updated with your iASP device name.
- 6. Once you complete your testing, delete the Temporary Connect:Direct Library, as it is no longer needed.

From this point forward, any function, including the UPDATECD command, recognizes that your system is running in an iASP. No manual steps are required to update your Connect:Direct system.

Updating your Connect:Direct System to an iASP

You should run this command before you apply maintenance if your current Connect:Direct system was manually moved to an iASP. This process updates your Connect:Direct system and allows the UPDATECD process to run without any special considerations or steps.

Note: Before you run this command, you should have your iASP preconfigured and available. You should also download the most current fix pack to a save file. At a minimum, you must download one of these point releases:

- Connect:Direct 3.7.00 PTF1604A
- Connect:Direct 3.8.00 PTF1604A
- 1. Sign on as CDADMIN. All Connect: Direct users must be signed off.
- 2. Bring down your Connect:Direct system.
- 3. Key in the following command to download the UPDCDIASP objects that will update your Connect:Direct system: RSTOBJ OBJ(UPDCDIASP) SAVLIB(MAINT37) DEV(*SAVF) SAVF(downloadlib/CD3701SAVF) RSTLIB(cdprodlib) RSTASPDEV(youriasp)

Replace downloadlib with the library where you downloaded the save file, cdprodlib with your Connect:Direct production library, and youriasp with your iASP device name.

4. Once the update programs have been restored, key in UPDCDIASP and press the F4 key. The following window is displayed:

```
Update C:D with iASP info (UPDCDIASP)

Type choices, press Enter.

C:D Production Library . . . *PRDLIB Name, *PRDLIB

C:D System non-iASP Library . . Name
iASP Device Name . . . . . . . . . Character value
```

Complete each of the parameters and press the Enter key. If you are unsure of a response, press the F1 Function key on the parameter and the help text displays with further detail about the parameter.

5. Once completed, you should sign off and back on. At this point, you are ready to apply the Maintenance that you have downloaded in your save file. It is crucial that you apply this

Maintenance, because the UPDCDIASP command removed your job descriptions from your Connect:Direct production library. It is no longer necessary to keep them in both your Connect:Direct library and your *SYSBAS library for Connect:Direct. It also removed the subsystem description from your Connect:Direct library if it was still present. Those objects will now only reside in your *SYSBAS library that you listed on the C:D System non-iASP Library parameter.

From this point forward, any function including the UPDATECD command will recognize that your system is running in an iASP. No manual steps are required to update your Connect:Direct system.

Upgrading to Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS Version 3.7

If you upgrade from an existing version of Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS, review the *Upgrading Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS* guide. If you are upgrading from an existing version of the Sterling Connect:Direct Secure Plus for i5/OS application, observe the following guidelines:

You can continue to use the parameters file defined in an earlier version. It is not necessary to reconfigure trading partner definitions, if the trading partner uses the same protocol.

If the previous version was the Export version, the STS authentication and signature keys will not work You must regenerate them. Refer to *IBM Sterling Connect:Direct Secure Plus Implementation Guide*.

Maintenance Updates

Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS Version 3.7 contains all maintenance fixes applied to previous versions. Issues resolved for Version 3.7.00 follow.

SR Number	Explanation
1281867	Request to add check for CRYP=0 inbound FMH68 to mean not Sterling Connect:Direct Secure Plus.
1282336	Permanent Session Manager receives a MCH3402 error after sitting idle for awhile and a new process starts.
1301273	Request to add Sterling Connect:Direct Plex z/OS support to Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS.
1301628	When an error occurs on a Process, messages repeat in CDLOG and Statistics.
1306167	An inbound LU0 connection from Sterling Connect:Direct for HP NonStop produces a MCH3601 error because CRC checking is not valid on LU0.
1298494	An inbound process from Sterling Connect:Direct fir HP NonStop to IFS ASCII file produces a MCH1211 error.
1304197	File error SVSJ013I on Sterling Connect:Direct for z/OS from CDSND is not reporting an error back to the CL program.

SR Number	Explanation
1309788	In DBCS, you cannot specify DEFAULT=A140, or DEFAULT=4040 instead of DEFAULT=0000 in the source member when using XTRAN()
1316195	The SPADMIN export of the STS key creates a file that causes an abnormal termination of the software on the mainframe when importing the file.
1316195	Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS SPADMIN creates the EXPORT file incorrectly on STS.
1306167	A pointer error on an LU0 inbound process occurs when i5/OS verifies Cyclic Redundancy Check.
1298494	When Sterling Connect:Direct for HP NonStop sends to Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS it produces an MCH1211 error.
1338491	Microsoft Windows sending multiple processes in one connection causes an APXS002I error
1338467	Sending an empty file with Sterling Connect:Direct Secure Plus SSL/TLS active causes an MCH3601 error.
1338493	Request for support of Sterling Control Center version 3.0 monitoring.
1338944	CDSPLMON does not start. MCH3401 error splmon_init stmt 103 is produced.
1338986	Inbound Sterling Connect:Direct Secure Plus starts two Session Managers on a secure connection and transmits a file successfully, but produces error messages.
1339735	Inbound SSL connections from Sterling Connect:Direct for Microsoft Windows or UNIX to Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS fail and produce a CSPA202E -6996 error on the PNODE if client authentication is enabled at Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS.
1340174	Inbound from Sterling Connect:Direct for UNIX on UNIX fails to create MSGI information in statistics.
1340195	Problems occur with Sterling Connect:Direct Secure Plus STS when using *LCLNODE Secure Enabled = Y and Secure Enabled = N on remote netmap records.
1316172	Allow TEXTFILE in IFS to use something other than CRLF for record terminators.
1297537	Parameters to control the character set ID for IFS creates files instead of defaulting to the system CCSID.
1340432	Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS version 3.5.00 dependent LU62 connections to a remote Sterling Connect:Direct for z/OS fails.
1341455	A CDSND to a z/OS HFS file results in a SDAA048I syntax error on z/OS.
1179458	Allow Sterling Connect:Direct to handle DB2 files with fields for NULLS. Keyword ALWNULL
1342676	Permanent Sessions Managers cause Sterling Connect:Direct Secure Plus failures using STS.
1342895	A RMTSYSTEM job produces an error QLICHGLL failed with CPF2184.
1342902	CDRCV to Sterling Connect:Direct for UNIX on UNIX does not create the MSGI information in statistics. It leaves the Process in WAIT WS state on Sterling Connect:Direct for UNIX.

SR Number	Explanation
1342167	Some Sterling Connect:Direct Secure Plus transfers fail between a Sterling Connect:Direct for UNIX and a Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS outbound node. The i5/OS transfer shows an CSPA203E error.
1342167	Transfers run slower after applying 504A.
1341517	CDSND COMPRESS(*EXT) sending from some IFS files using TEXTFILE(*YES) produces error ACOP252I.
1341715	Sending some IFS files using TEXTFILE(*YES) causes error AFLH803I - File I/O error occurred.
1135543	Request support for larger DSN beyond 64 characters.
1344707	Request to increase the maximum time allowed for RUNTASK Max Time to Wait [RUNTASKTIM] in the INITPARMS.
1345763	The SCPA000I message is repeated in the CDLOG and statistics.
1346471	A Process from Sterling Connect:Direct for UNIX with a PNAME greater then 22 characters causes a loop after FMH75.
1346592	CDPMGR ends abnormally and produces a MCH2602 RmslLockMiObject Lock request not given error message, but Sterling Connect:Direct continues to run.
1347240	Sterling Connect:Direct for z/OS reports statistics incorrectly for RECFM=FB when sending to iSterling Connect:Direct for 5/OS.
1348212	Error CSPA084E results when sending an IFS file with blank lines in text mode when Sterling Connect:Direct Secure Plus STS is used with a digital signature.
1349579	When transferring a 0 byte file from Sterling Connect:Direct for HP NonStop to i5/OS, the I/O Recs report information incorrectly.
1349257	Record count is incorrect in z/OS statistics, when copying from Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS to Sterling Connect:Direct for z/OS. The actual data is correct.
1350167	Sterling Connect:Direct for z/OS pulls from the IFS file causing an MCH error when DBLK=0 is sent in FMH71 from z/OS.
1351278	Large multiple gigabyte transfers cause the pointer error Sterling Connect:Direct Secure Plus SSL/TLS is in use.
1353671	Intermittent SSL handshake error CSPA003E occurs during file transmission between Mainframe (PNODE) and iSeries.
1352803	The feedback code from Sterling Connect:Direct for UNIX or Microsoft Windows is not displayed in Statistics.
1346841	When SSL/TLS is in use and a network connection is lost, restarting fails and produces a APSM007E error.
1338491	When Sterling Connect:Direct for Microsoft Windows sends multiple Processes in one connection to a Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS node, an ASMT015I error on the second Process occurs.
1355179	When SNDFFD(*YES) is used and the file field description is beyond the 12K limit an error message is not received.

SR Number	Explanation
1355528	After an upgrade, the Spool Monitor fails when sending a spool file to a GDG on Sterling Connect:Direct for z/OS and produces the error AFLH002I.
1353671	The error ASMT806I-Unknown sense code is received from an SSL connection on the SNODE.
1358560	Pulling a file from Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS sends back 3101 instead of SDE0210I.
1361490	After 608A is installed, Processes fail with ASMT015I and CPD0071 errors. The variable status.sec_xsys_init is in the wrong state.
1362459	Allow Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS to use user profiles with JOBDs containing more than 25 library entries.
1363442	Unwanted CSL* user spaces remain when running CDCLEANUP.
1363512	The CDTCPL loops if the listen port is removed manually from NETSTAT *CNN.
1363763	The SPADMIN adds remote nodes as type 'L' (local) when a sync-add <f7> is used.</f7>
1364266	LOGIC=B functionality allows invalid combination of SI/SO transfers.
1358640	Checkpoint restart from z/OS to i5/OS creates duplicate records.
1365383	An invalid User Profile used in SNODEID causes RMYSTSEM to end abnormally. Invalid JOBD or invalid library in JOBD causes the issue.
1365707	An ASCII file with an extra 0D in the file, such as 0D0D25 in IFS, causes issues with EORCHAR.
1365500	Request to update the SLCU and DLCU XDR Keys, updated to 4 bytes long on VM system, on Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS.
1365724	After applying 705A, WRKCDUSR produces error CDE0317 when trying to add or change a user entry.
1365484	VM produces an error when restarting checkpoint, when sending multiple records in one record of the data buffer.
1365986	The WRKCDUSR produces the error CPF6A91 unmonitored by WRKUSRC2 when 1000 or more entries in the CDUSER file occurs.
1365383	If the SNODEID issues no JOBD or bad library in the JOBD commands, the RMTSYSTEM ends abnormally and CDSMGR hangs waiting for a response.
1367579	COPY to a fixed length file from a variable causes a ACOP070I RC=4 error, unlike other Sterling Connect:Direct platforms.
1368038	COPY 0 byte file from Sterling Connect:Direct for z/OS with COMPRESS causes a MCH360 error. The second STEP fails.
1367616	After applying version 3.5.00 maintenance updates, merging the Sterling Connect:Direct Secure Plus parameters fail. Sending to the version 3.4.00 node results in the error CSPA080E.

Known Restrictions

Sterling Connect: Direct for i5/OS version 3.7 has the following restrictions:

The minimum bytes you can specify in CKPTINV(n) is 1K. If you specify a value between 1 and 1023, the value becomes 1024 or 1K.

Checkpointing and restarting of IFS files is not supported.

Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS supports SSL_RSA_WITH_AES_256_CBC_SHA, and no longer supports RSA_EXPORT_WITH_RC2_CBC_40_MD5.

Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS does not support V5R1 128-character passwords. Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS is limited to 10-character password for i5/OS profiles.

Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS does not support the System/36 environment.

You cannot upgrade from a version prior to version 3.5.00. To migrate from an earlier version, follow the instructions in *Installing Sterling Connect:Direct* in the *IBM Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS Installation and Administration Guide*.

Documentation Updates

No last-minute updates are required to the Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS version 3.7.00 documentation

Sterling Connect: Direct for i5/OS Documentation

The Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS documentation, including supplemental documentation, is available on the product media.

Access to PDF files requires the latest version of Adobe Acrobat Reader, which you can download at www.adobe.com.

The Sterling Connect: Direct for i5/OS documentation consists of:

IBM Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS Installation and Administration Guide

IBM Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS User's Guide

Upgrading IBM Sterling Connect:Direct for i5/OS

IBM Sterling Connect:Direct Secure Plus for i5/OS Implementation Guide

Understanding IBM Sterling Connect:Direct Processes

IBM Sterling Connect:Direct Compatibility and Connectivity Chart

IBM Sterling Connect: Direct for i5/OS Version 3.6.00 Release Notes

Information on Sterling Connect:Direct Processes is available from the IBM Sterling Connect:Direct Process Web site at

http://www.sterlingcommerce.com/documentation/processes/processhome.html.

Notices

This information was developed for products and services offered in the U.S.A.

IBM may not offer the products, services, or features discussed in this document in other countries. Consult your local IBM representative for information on the products and services currently available in your area. Any reference to an IBM product, program, or service is not intended to state or imply that only that IBM product, program, or service may be used. Any functionally equivalent product, program, or service that does not infringe any IBM intellectual property right may be used instead. However, it is the user's responsibility to evaluate and verify the operation of any non-IBM product, program, or service.

IBM may have patents or pending patent applications covering subject matter described in this document. The furnishing of this document does not grant you any license to these patents. You can send license inquiries, in writing, to:

IBM Director of Licensing

IBM Corporation

North Castle Drive

Armonk, NY 10504-1785

U.S.A.

For license inquiries regarding double-byte character set (DBCS) information, contact the IBM Intellectual

Property Department in your country or send inquiries, in writing, to:

Intellectual Property Licensing

Legal and Intellectual Property Law

IBM Japan Ltd.

1623-14, Shimotsuruma, Yamato-shi

Kanagawa 242-8502 Japan

The following paragraph does not apply to the United Kingdom or any other country where such provisions are inconsistent with local law: INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS MACHINES CORPORATION PROVIDES THIS PUBLICATION "AS IS" WITHOUT WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF NON-INFRINGEMENT, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. Some states do

not allow disclaimer of express or implied warranties in certain transactions, therefore, this statement may not apply to you.

This information could include technical inaccuracies or typographical errors. Changes are periodically made to the information herein; these changes will be incorporated in new editions of the publication. IBM may make improvements and/or changes in the product(s) and/or the program(s) described in this publication at any time without notice.

Any references in this information to non-IBM Web sites are provided for convenience only and do not in any manner serve as an endorsement of those Web sites. The materials at those Web sites are not part of the materials for this IBM product and use of those Web sites is at your own risk.

IBM may use or distribute any of the information you supply in any way it believes appropriate without incurring any obligation to you.

Licensees of this program who wish to have information about it for the purpose of enabling: (i) the exchange of information between independently created programs and other programs (including this one) and (ii) the mutual use of the information which has been exchanged, should contact:

IBM Corporation

J46A/G4

555 Bailey Avenue

San Jose, CA 95141-1003

U.S.A.

Such information may be available, subject to appropriate terms and conditions, including in some cases, payment of a fee.

The licensed program described in this document and all licensed material available for it are provided by IBM under terms of the IBM Customer Agreement, IBM International Program License Agreement or any equivalent agreement between us.

Any performance data contained herein was determined in a controlled environment. Therefore, the results obtained in other operating environments may vary significantly. Some measurements may have been made on development-level systems and there is no guarantee that these measurements will be the same on generally available systems. Furthermore, some measurements may have been estimated through extrapolation. Actual results may vary. Users of this document should verify the applicable data for their specific environment.

Information concerning non-IBM products was obtained from the suppliers of those products, their published announcements or other publicly available sources. IBM has not tested those products and cannot confirm the accuracy of performance, compatibility or any other claims related to non-IBM products. Questions on the capabilities of non-IBM products should be addressed to the suppliers of those products.

All statements regarding IBM's future direction or intent are subject to change or withdrawal without notice, and represent goals and objectives only.

This information is for planning purposes only. The information herein is subject to change before the products described become available. This information contains examples of data and reports used in daily business operations. To illustrate them as completely as possible, the examples include the names of individuals, companies, brands, and products. All of these names are ficticious and any similarity to the names and addresses used by an actual business enterprise is entirely coincidental.

COPYRIGHT LICENSE:

This information contains sample application programs in source language, which illustrate programming techniques on various operating platforms. You may copy, modify, and distribute these sample programs in any form without payment to IBM, for the purposes of developing, using, marketing or distributing application programs conforming to the application programming interface for the operating platform for which the sample programs are written. These examples have not been thoroughly tested under all conditions. IBM, therefore, cannot guarantee or imply reliability, serviceability, or function of these programs. The sample programs are provided "AS IS", without warranty of any kind. IBM shall not be liable for any damages arising out of your use of the sample programs.

Each copy or any portion of these sample programs or any derivative work, must include a copyright notice as follows:

- © IBM 2011. Portions of this code are derived from IBM Corp. Sample Programs.
- © Copyright IBM Corp. 2011.

If you are viewing this information softcopy, the photographs and color illustrations may not appear.

Trademarks

The following terms are trademarks of the International Business Machines Corporation in the United States, other countries, or both: http://www.ibm.com/legal/copytrade.shtml.

Adobe, the Adobe logo, PostScript, and the PostScript logo are either registered trademarks or trademarks of Adobe Systems Incorporated in the United States, and/or other countries.

IT Infrastructure Library is a registered trademark of the Central Computer and Telecommunications Agency which is now part of the Office of Government Commerce.

Intel, Intel logo, Intel Inside, Intel Inside logo, Intel Centrino, Intel Centrino logo, Celeron, Intel Xeon, Intel SpeedStep, Itanium, and Pentium are trademarks or registered trademarks of Intel Corporation or its subsidiaries in the United States and other countries.

Linux is a registered trademark of Linus Torvalds in the United States, other countries, or both.

Microsoft Windows, Microsoft Windows NT, and the Microsoft Windows logo are trademarks of Microsoft Corporation in the United States, other countries, or both.

ITIL is a registered trademark, and a registered community trademark of the Office of Government Commerce, and is registered in the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office.

UNIX is a registered trademark of The Open Group in the United States and other countries.

Java and all Java-based trademarks and logos are trademarks or registered trademarks of Oracle and/or its affiliates.

Cell Broadband Engine is a trademark of Sony Computer Entertainment, Inc. in the United States, other countries, or both and is used under license therefrom.

Linear Tape-Open, LTO, the LTO Logo, Ultrium and the Ultrium Logo are trademarks of HP, IBM Corp. and Quantum in the U.S. and other countries.

Connect Control Center®, Connect:Direct®, Connect:Enterprise, Gentran®, Gentran:Basic®, Gentran:Control®, Gentran:Director®, Gentran:Plus®, Gentran:Realtime®, Gentran:Server®, Gentran:Viewpoint®, Sterling CommerceTM, Sterling Information Broker®, and Sterling Integrator® are trademarks or registered trademarks of Sterling Commerce, Inc., an IBM Company.

Other company, product, and service names may be trademarks or service marks of others.